Pathogen-associated regulatory non-coding RNAs and oncogenesis

Noriyuki Yoshida¹, Tominori Kimura¹

¹Laboratory of Microbiology and Cell Biology, Department of Pharmacy, College of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Ritsumeikan University, 1-1-1 Noji-Higashi, Kusatsu, Shiga 525-8577, Japan

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Oncoviral microRNAs and oncogenesis
 - 3.1. EBV miRNAs and oncogenesis
 - 3.2. KSHV miRNAs and oncogenesis
 - 3.3. HPV miRNAs and oncogenesis
- 4. Another class of ncRNAs encoded by EBV involved in oncogenesis
 - 4.1. Molecular mechanisms of EBER1 and 2 action in viral oncogenesis
- 5. KSHV IncRNA PAN and oncogenesis
- 6. HTLV-1 basic leucine zipper factor mRNA and oncogenesis
- 7. H. pylori infection and oncogenesis
- 8. HCV miRNA and oncogenesis
- 9. Perspectives
- 10. Acknowledgements
- 11. References

1. ABSTRACT

Among all new cancer cases in 2012, on average, 15.4% were caused by *Helicobacter pylori* or oncoviruses, including Epstein-Barr virus, human papillomavirus, *hepatitis B virus*, *hepatitis C viruses*, Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus and human T-lymphotropic virus. These pathogens encode a variety of non-coding RNAs, which are important cofactors for oncogenesis. In this review, we focus on recent developments in the study of long and small non-protein-coding RNAs, including microRNAs, of oncogenic pathogens, and discuss their mechanisms of action in the multiple steps of oncogenesis.

2. INTRODUCTION

In 2001, the human genome sequencing consortium released its final draft of the human genome (1). Although only 2.94% of the genome was revealed to encode protein coding genes, subsequent large-scale transcriptomic analyses, such as deep sequencing and/or whole genome high-density tiling array analyses combined with bioinformatics, revealed that the majority of the genome (74.7%) was indeed transcribed but was not translated into proteins (2, 3). These unexpected findings, that a much larger part of the human genome than was previously assumed

is pervasively transcribed into ncRNA (non-proteincoding RNA), revolutionized our view of genome organization and content. These findings have challenged the traditional central dogma of molecular biology, which states that genic DNA codes for RNA and RNA codes for protein (4). These results also changed the definition of a gene; a gene encodes information not only for protein-coding RNAs but also for ncRNAs. Recent advances in gene studies revealed that ncRNAs play important functional roles in gene expression and the term 'RNA gene' has been proposed (5).

The transcripts from such RNA genes can be further categorized according to the length of transcripts, and ncRNAs exceeding 200 nucleotides in length are typically classified as lncRNAs (long noncoding RNAs) (6). LncRNAs are functionally very diverse (7, 8). In addition to architectural ncRNAs, such as rRNAs, tRNAs and paraspeckle assembly transcripts, a large fraction of ncRNAs is involved in the regulation of gene expression (7, 9, 10); i.e. they can positively or negatively affect gene expression in an epigenetic (11) or a post-transcriptional manner (12, 13).

Many reports have documented dysregulated transcription of ncRNAs in diverse cancers, with

Table 1. Pathogens and cance	Table 1	Pathogens	and	cancers
------------------------------	---------	-----------	-----	---------

Pathogens ¹	Cancers elicited	Reference
Hepatitis B virus (HBV)	Hepatocellular carcinomas (HCCs)	(122, 123)
Hepatitis C virus (HCV)	Hepatocellular carcinomas (HCCs)	(124)
Human herpesvirus 4 (Epstein-Barr virus; EBV)	Burkitt lymphoma (BL), Hodgkin's lymphoma (HL), Nasopharyngeal carcinoma (NPC), Gastric carcinoma (GC), and Opportunistic lymphoma	(125)
Human herpesvirus 8 (Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus; KSHV)	Kaposi's sarcoma	(126)
Human papillomavirus (HPV)	Cervical cancer	(127, 128)
Human T-lymphotropic virus 1 (HTLV-1)	Adult T-cell leukemia (ATL)	(129)
Helicobacter pylori	Gastric carcinoma	(130)

¹Virus nomenclatures are based on International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV) 2014 Master Species List. Only formal taxonomic names are written in italics.

ncRNAs being overexpressed or suppressed (14-23), leading to the downregulation of tumor suppressor genes, such as p53 (24). Such dysregulation of ncRNA expression and hence, disruption of their regulatory roles is increasingly recognized to be of great importance in oncogenesis (25, 26).

Several viral and also *Helicobacter pylori* infections are strongly related to human oncogenesis (Table 1). In 2012, an average of 15.4% of all new cases resulted from such infections, varying from less than 5% in the USA, Canada, Australia, New Zealand, and several countries in western and northern Europe to more than 50% in several countries in sub-Saharan Africa (27, 28).

Six oncoviruses are known to be causative agents for human cancers. Human oncoviruses do not sit in a single viral class but fall into a wide range of taxonomic classifications. They include complex exogenous retroviruses (such as HTLV-1 or human T-lymphotropic virus 1), positive-stranded RNA viruses (such as HCV or hepatitis C virus), DNA-RNA viruses (DNA viruses that use reverse transcription as a part of their replication process, such as HBV or hepatitis B virus), and both large double-stranded DNA viruses (such as HHV4 or human herpesvirus 4 also known as Epstein-Barr virus or EBV and HHV8 or human herpesvirus 8, also known as Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus or KSHV), and small double-stranded DNA viruses (such as HPV or human papillomavirus) (27, 28).

Among these pathogens, gastric *H. pylori* is the strongest risk factor, playing virtually indispensable roles in the development of both intestinal and diffuse gastric non-cardia adenocarcinomas (29).

Like their host cells, many, but not all, viruses synthesize their own ncRNAs. Similar to their host counterparts, viral ncRNAs associate with proteins that are essential for their stability or function, or both. Diverse biological roles, including the regulation of viral replication, viral persistence, host immune evasion, and cellular transformation, have been ascribed to viral ncRNAs (30).

In this review, we focus on the interplay between virus-encoded ncRNAs and their targets with respect to pathogen-associated oncogenesis and the cancer hallmarks proposed by Hanahan and Weinberg (31, 32) (see Table 2).

3. ONCOVIRAL microRNAs AND ONCOGENESIS

miRNAs (microRNAs) are incorporated into RISCs (RNA-induced silencing complexes) by binding to host AGO (argonaute) family proteins and downregulate protein production of target mRNAs. The use of viral miRNAs instead of viral proteins to manipulate gene expression has several advantages; although miRNAs are short, they are capable of regulating the expression of a large number of mRNAs, which share a common MRE (miRNA response element). Moreover, oncoviral miRNAs are less likely than proteins to be recognized by the host immune system (30). Such miRNAs may help oncoviruses maintain the latent infection state in host cells by escaping from host immunosurveillance.

Oncoviruses inhibit both transition to the lytic cycle (33) and the induction of apoptosis (34-37), leading to latent infection. Oncovirus infection then upregulates the production of inflammatory cytokines (38-40), which induces a local inflammatory response at the site of infection. Latent infections within the host induce chronic inflammation (41), which favors oncogenesis by stimulating angiogenesis, damaging DNA, maintaining stem cells in a cancer microenvironment and chronically stimulating cell proliferation (42, 43).

Virus	ncRNA	Target	Cancer hallmarks ¹	Reference
EBV	miR-BHRF1-3	CXCL-11/I-TAC	Avoiding immune destruction	(47)
EBV	miR-BART5	PUMA	Resisting cell death and maintaining latency	(34)
EBV	miR-BART4/15	Bim	Resisting cell death	(35, 36)
EBV	miR-BART16	TOMM22	Resisting cell death	(37)
EBV	miR-BART6-3p	PTEN	Resisting cell death	(49)
EBV	miRNAs from BHRF1 locus		Resisting cell death and favoring cell cycle progression and proliferation	(50)
EBV	miR-BART2	BALF5	Maintaining latency	(33)
EBV	miR-BART6-5p	EBNA2, Dicer	Maintaining latency	(51)
EBV	miR-BART3	DICE1/INTS6	Promoting cell growth	(54)
EBV	miR-BART9	CDH1	Activating invasion and metastasis	(61)
EBV	BART miRNA cluster 2	NDRG1	Activating invasion and metastasis	(62)
EBV	EBER1 and EBER2	IL-6 and IL-10	Tumor-promoting inflammation	(52, 53)
	EBER1	IL-10	Resisting cell death	(91)
	EBER1 and EBER2	IL-6	Evading growth suppressors	(53)
	EBER1 and EBER2	FAK, PAK, RhoGD1 and KAI-1	Activating invasion and metastasis	(53)
	EBER1	PKR	Avoiding immune destruction	(86, 90)
	EBER1 and EBER2	RIG-I	Immune destruction	(52)
	EBER1	TLR3	Immune destruction	(89)
	EBER1	miR-200	Activating invasion and metastasis	(53)
KSHV	miR-K12-9	IRAK1	Avoiding immune destruction	(67)
KSHV	miR-K12-5	MYD88	Avoiding immune destruction	(67)
KSHV	miR-K12-11	IKBKE/IKKepsilon	Avoiding immune destruction	(68)
KSHV	miR-K12-5, -9, -3 and -10b	BCLAF1	Resisting cell death	(69)
KSHV	miR-K12-10a	TWEAKR	Resisting cell death	(70)
KSHV	miR-K12-1, -3 and -4-3p	caspase 3	Resisting cell death	(71)
KSHV	miR-K12-11	LDOC1	Resisting cell death	(72)
KSHV	miR-K12-1	IkappaBalpha	Maintaining latency	(73)
KSHV	miR-K12-4	Rbl2	Maintaining latency	(74)
KSHV	miR-K12-7 and -9	RTA	Maintaining latency	(75)
KSHV	miR-K12-3-5p and -7	LIP	Tumor-promoting inflammation	(76)
KSHV	miR-K12-1	p21	Evading growth suppressors	(77)
KSHV	miR-K12-1, -3-3p, -6-3p, -11	THBS1	Inducing angiogenesis and anchorage independent proliferation	(78)
KSHV	miR-K12-3-5p	GRK2	Activating invasion and metastasis	(79)
KSHV	PAN	IRF4	Avoiding immune destruction	(101)
	PAN	Target: unknown	Cell growth	(102)
HCV	vmr11	HNF4alpha	Activating invasion and metastasis	(116)
	vmr11	TNPO2	Genome instability and mutation	(119)

Table 2.	Viral	ncRNAs	and	oncogenesis
----------	-------	--------	-----	-------------

¹The hallmarks of cancer proposed by Hanahan and Weinberg (31, 32) constitute an organizing principle for rationalizing the complexities of neoplastic disease, which include; (1) sustaining proliferative signaling; (2) evading growth suppressors; (3) enabling replicative immortality; (4) activating invasion and metastasis; (5) inducing angiogenesis; (6) resisting cell death; (7) deregulating cellular energetics; (8) avoiding immune destruction; (9) genome instability and mutation and (10) tumor-promoting inflammation.



Figure 1. Immune evasion by pathogen-associated ncRNAs. EBV BHRF1-3 miRNAs target chemokine CXCL-11/I-TAC mRNA for suppression, which encodes the IFN-inducible T-cell-attracting chemokine. EBER1 and EBER2 are recognized by the cytosolic double-strand RNA sensor, RIG-I, and the plasma membrane receptor for double-strand RNA, TLR3, recognizes EBER1, leading to induction of the type I IFN response. EBERs, however, inactivate PKR, the major IFN response gene product and antiviral effector, resulting in inhibition of apoptosis. KSHV miR-K12-9 and -K12-5 evade host immunosurveillance by suppressing the expression of IRAK1 and MYD88 mRNAs. KSHV miR-K12-11 downregulates IKBKE mRNA expression, causing the deactivation of IRF3/7 in infected cells. The dashed line indicates a possible commitment. EBV miRNAs and EBERs are in blue font and KSHV miRNAs are in red font.

3.1. EBV miRNAs and oncogenesis

The EBV genome encodes up to 25 miRNA precursors from BART and BHRF loci (44-46). The miRNAs derived from these loci are involved in escape from immune surveillance, apoptosis inhibition, and maintaining the latent stage of infection, as discussed above. For example, recent studies show that EBV BHRF1-3 miRNAs target and suppress chemokine CXCL-11/I-TAC mRNA, which encodes the IFN (interferon)-inducible T-cell attracting chemokine (Figure 1) (47). These miRNAs may play a role in the immune evasion strategy with which EBV downregulates the CTL (cytotoxic T lymphocyte) cytokine networks (48). EBV miR-BART5 inhibits the expression of the cellular protein, PUMA (p53 upregulated modulator of apoptosis), to promote host cell survival and hence the establishment of latent EBV infection (34). Additionally, miR-BART4/15, miR-BART16 and miR-BART6-3p target the mRNAs encoding Bim (Bcl-2 interacting mediator of cell death), TOMM22 (translocase of outer mitochondrial membrane 22) and PTEN (phosphatase and tensin homologue deleted on chromosome 10), respectively, leading to inhibition of apoptosis (Figure 2) (35-37, 49). Furthermore, another group of EBV-encoded miRNAs from the BHRF1 locus also inhibits apoptosis and favors cell cycle progression and proliferation of infected B cells early after infection (Figure 2) (50).



Figure 2. Inhibition of apoptosis by pathogen-associated ncRNAs. EBV miR-BART5 reduces the levels of PUMA mRNA, which encodes a modulator of apoptosis for promoting host cell survival. EBV miR-BART4/15, miR-BART16 and miR-BART6-3p target mRNAs of Bim, TOMM22 and PTEN, respectively, leading to the inhibition of apoptosis. EBV EBER1 and EBER2 upregulate the apoptosis inhibitor, Bcl-2. EBV-encoded miRNAs from the BHRF1 locus also manage to inhibit apoptosis and favor cell cycle progression. BCLAF1 mRNA, encoding a pro-apoptotic protein, is the target of KSHV miR-K12-5, -9, -3 and -10b. KSHV miR-K12-10a targets TWEAKR mRNA, thereby protecting KS cells from TWEAK-induced apoptosis. KSHV miR-K12-1, 3 and 4-3p target caspase 3 mRNA, resulting in resistance to apoptosis. mR-K12-11 targets LDOC mRNA, which encodes a factor responsible for apoptosis regulation. Bcl-2 is an integral outer mitochondrial membrane protein and is inhibited by PUMA and Bim. Bcl-2 inhibits pro-apoptotic protein, Bax, which is activated by BCLAF1. Bcl-2 and Bax are considered to contribute to the release of cytochrome C, which activates caspases, leading to apoptosis. EBV miRNAs and EBERs are in blue font and KSHV miRNAs are in red font.

EBV miR-BART2 downregulates the viral DNA polymerase, BALF5, and inhibits transition from latent to lytic viral replication (33), thereby maintaining the latent stage (Figure 3). In a more direct manner, miR-BART6-5p suppresses EBNA2 (EBV nuclear antigen 2) expression, which is required for transition from immunologically less responsive type I and II latency to the more immunoreactive type III latency. miR-BART6-5p also suppresses expression of the EBV immediateearly gene product, ZTA, and RTA (replication and transcription activator) proteins for lytic replication through silencing of dicer mRNA (Figure 3) (51).

In the latent stage of infection, EBV expresses the LMP1 (latent membrane protein-1) which upregulates expression of a number of factors, including tumorpromoting inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, such as IL-6 (Interleukine-6), IL-1beta, IL-1alpha, CXCR4 (C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4), RANTES (Regulated on Activation, Normal T Cell Expressed and Secreted), MCP1 (Monocyte Chemotactic Protein-1), IL-8 and IL-10 (38). Upregulation of some of these factors by LMP1 is mediated through its ability to activate NF-kappaB signaling (38). NF-kappaB has a dual role in oncogenesis; its expression in potentially malignant cells can prevent cell death by targeting a number of inhibitors of apoptosis, including Bcl-XL (B-cell lymphoma XL), cIAPs (cellular inhibitors of apoptosis proteins), GADD45beta (growth arrest and DNA-damage-inducible 45beta), BCL2A1 (B-cell-lymphoma-2-related protein A1) and SOD2 (superoxide dismutase 2) (40). NF-kappaB also acts as a prominent mediator of inflammation, by regulating the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1, IL-6, IL-8 and TNF-alpha (tumor necrosis factor-alpha) (Figure 4) (39, 40). Furthermore, EBV encodes small ncRNAs, EBER1 (EBV-encoded small RNA 1) and EBER2 that upregulate the expression of tumor-promoting inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 and IL-10 (Figure 4) (52, 53) (see also chapter *4.1*).

The chronic state of inflammation induced by these cytokines, and by the chemokines discussed above, can act to promote tumorigenesis. Chronic inflammation induces cell proliferation, recruits inflammatory cells, increases production of reactive oxygen species leading to oxidative DNA damage, and reduces DNA repair. Subversion of cell death and/or repair programs occurs in chronically inflamed tissues, resulting in DNA replication and proliferation of cells that have lost normal growth control (41). As such, inflammation can be considered to enable the acquisition of core cancer capabilities (Table 2, 10 of cancer hallmarks). More specifically, the virally encoded miR-BART3 plays a role in EBVdependent oncogenesis by suppressing DICE1/



Figure 3. Maintenance of latency by pathogen-associated ncRNAs. EBV miR-BART2 downregulates the expression of viral DNA polymerase BALF5, resulting in inhibition of transition from the latent stage to the lytic stage of infection. EBV miR-BART6-5p suppresses EBNA2 viral oncogene expression, which is required for transition to immunoreactive type III latency. miR-BART6-5p also silences dicer mRNA, leading to suppression of RTA expression, which acts on viral lytic replication. KSHV miR-K12-1 reduces lkappaBalpha mRNA expression, resulting in the suppression of RJTA expression, KSHV miR-K12-4 inhibits the expression of RDIA mRNA, which encodes a repressor of DNMT function. KSHV miR-K12-7 reduce expression of RTA mRNA. The dashed line indicates transition between the latent and lytic stages. EBV miRNAs are in blue font and KSHV miRNAs are in red font.

INTS6 (Deleted in cancer cells 1/Integrator complex subunit 6) expression (54). Indeed, consistent with low expression levels of DICE1 in EBV-positive NPC (nasopharyngeal carcinoma), tumor cell proliferation was observed (Figure 5A) (54).

Tumor-promoting inflammation recruits inflammatory cells, including TAMs (tumor-associated macrophages), which constitute a large portion of the tumor mass (55). While TAMs in the mass cause cancer initiation and promotion by secreting cytokines for chronic inflammation, these macrophages may also be obligatory for invasion, metastasis and angiogenesis (56). In the progressive stage of oncogenesis, TAMs are localized to points of basement-membrane breakdown during the transition to malignancy and to the invasive front of more advanced tumors. This suggests that tumors exploit the normal matrix remodeling capacities of macrophages, enabling them to egress into and migrate through the surrounding stroma (56, 57). Thus, TAMs are endowed with exaggerated extracellularmatrix remodeling activity and invasive properties (58). Tumor-derived signals for TAM-recruitment include hypoxia caused by the tumor outgrowing the vascular supply (59). Hypoxia induces the HIF transcription factors in these cells, whose targets include genes for many angiogenic factors, such as VEGF (vascular endothelial growth factor), which enhance angiogenesis in these avascular areas (60).

EBV encodes miR-BART9 to promote the migration of NPC (nasopharyngeal carcinoma) cells by specifically inhibiting E-cadherin to induce a mesenchymal-like phenotype (61). The virus also encodes BART miRNA cluster 2 to promote tumor invasion and metastasis by targeting NDRG1(N-myc downstream regulated gene 1) mRNA, which encodes a suppressor of metastasis (Figure 6) (62). NDRG1 protein inhibits the TGF-beta-induced EMT (epithelialmesenchymal transition) by maintaining E-cadherin at the plasma membrane (63). NDRG1 also inhibits the nuclear translocation of beta-catenin, leading to the expression of metastasis-associated genes such as cyclin D1 (Figure 6) (64). These results strongly suggest that EBV encodes miRNAs that are, at least in part, responsible for the aggressive phenotype of



Figure 4. Tumor-promoting inflammation by pathogen-associated ncRNAs. EBV EBER1 induces IL-10 expression through RIG-I-mediated IRF3 signaling. IL-10 upregulates the apoptosis inhibitor, BcI-2, resulting in cell proliferation. KSHV miR-K12-3-5p and miR-K12-7 target LIP mRNA, resulting in upregulation of IL-6 and IL-10 expression in infected human myelomonocytic cells. EBV LMP1 and EBER1 are in blue font and KSHV miRNAs are in red font.



Figure 5. A) Cell proliferation and release from cell cycle arrest by pathogen-associated ncRNAs. EBV miR-BART3 suppresses DICE1 mRNA expression, leading to the promotion of cell proliferation and transformation. EBV miRNAs from the BHRF1 locus also promote cell proliferation. KSHV miR-K12-1 targets p21 mRNA, which encodes an inducer of cell cycle arrest. EBER1 and EBER2 activate STAT3 expression through upregulation of IL-6 expression. The activated STAT3 downregulates expression of cell cycle inhibitors, p21 and p27, leading to release from cell cycle arrest. B) Induction of angiogenesis by pathogen-associated ncRNAs. A group of KSHV miRNAs, including miR-K12-1, -K12-3-3p, -K12-6-3p and -K12-11, accelerate anchorage-independent proliferation and angiogenesis by inhibiting THBS1 mRNA expression. TSBH1 acts through its receptors, CD47 and CD36, to inhibit angiogenesis. EBV miRNAs and EBERs are in blue font and KSHV miRNAs are in red font.



Figure 6. Activation of invasion and metastasis by pathogen-associated ncRNAs. EBV miR-BART9 promotes the migration of NPC cells by specifically inhibiting E-cadherin, resulting in a mesenchymal-like phenotype. EBV BART miRNA cluster 2 promotes tumor invasion and metastasis by targeting NDRG1 mRNA, which encodes a suppressor of metastasis. Reduced expression of NDRG1 allows nuclear translocation of phosphorylated beta-catenin, resulting in EMT with invasion and metastasis. EBV EBER1 and EBER2 induce the activation of pro-metastatic molecules, FAK and PAK1, along with downregulation of anti-metastatic molecules, RhoGD1 and KAI-1, which promote cell migration. Furthermore, EBER1 and EBER2 inhibit host miR-200, leading to inhibition of E-cadherin expression and EMT. By targeting GRK2 mRNA, KSHV miR-K12-3-5p promotes cell migration and invasion, which regulatory genes: *TGFB, Snail* and *HMGA2*. Upregulated expression of these genes results in EMT. EBV miRNAs and EBERs are in blue font, KSHV miRNAs are in red font and the HCV miRNA is in green font.

EBV-positive NPC cells by activating invasion and metastasis.

It is thus concluded that following induction of chronic, tumor-promoting inflammation by EBV miRNAs, another set of EBV miRNAs downregulate the expression of anti-tumor suppressor genes and induce EMT activation, leading to the acquisition of cancer hallmarks relevant to tumor progression (Figure 6) (Table 2, 3 to 5 of cancer hallmarks).

3.2. KSHV miRNAs and oncogenesis

KSHV encodes 12 viral miRNA precursors, most of which are from a large intron in the KSHV latency-associated region (46, 65, 66). Like EBV, KSHV expresses miRNAs in latently infected B cells. These miRNAs contribute to viral oncogenesis by similar strategies to those of EBV; likewise, KSHV evades host immunosurveillance and inhibits apoptosis and lytic reactivation, thereby maintaining latent infection. This leads to the production of tumor-promoting inflammatory cytokines, as discussed for EBV (section 3.1.) (42, 43) (Table 2, 10 of cancer hallmarks).

To commence the oncogenesis process, immunosurveillance is evaded by KSHV miR-K12-9 and -K12-5, which suppress the expression of IRAK1 (interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase 1) and MYD88 (myeloid differentiation primary response protein 88) (67), respectively (Figure 1). These target molecules are essential for TLR7/8 (Toll-like receptor 7/8)- and TLR9dependent recognition of viral ssRNA and unmethylated CpG oligonucleotides of microbial origin, respectively; therefore, they effectively downregulate type I IFN production in the infected cells (Figure 1). Furthermore, miR-K12-11 downregulates the expression levels of IKBKE (inhibitor of NF-kappaB kinase subunit epsilon) mRNA (also known as IKKepsilon (IkappaB kinase epsilon)), causing the deactivation of IRF3/7 (interferon regulatory factor 3/7) in infected cells. These results reveal that KSHV infection can attenuate type I IFN responses, resulting in evasion of host antiviral innate immunity (68).

Resistance to apoptosis is another strategy evolved by EBV to enable persistence in host cells. Likewise, KSHV employs miRNAs for downregulating the apoptotic pathways. Using a microarray-based approach to identify target mRNAs, BCLAF1 (Bcl-2associated factor) mRNA, which encodes a pro-apoptotic protein, was identified as a target of miR-K12-5, -9, -3 and -10b. The repression of BCLAF1 mRNA expression by these KSHV miRNAs enabled cells to overcome etoposide-induced caspase activation, resulting in inhibition of apoptosis (Figure 2) (69).

Virally encoded miRNAs can also prevent apoptosis in KS (Kaposi sarcoma) tumor-derived endothelial cells in response to TWEAK (tumor necrosis factor-like weak inducer of apoptosis) stimulation. For example, miR-K12-10a-mediated knockdown of TWEAKR (TWEAK receptor) mRNA protected KS cells from TWEAK-induced apoptosis (Figure 2) (70). In another study, Suffert and colleagues showed that multiple KSHV miRNAs; miR-K12-1, 3 and 4-3p, target caspase 3 mRNA, resulting in resistance to apoptosis (71). Furthermore, miR-K12-11 targets LDOC (leucine zipper down-regulated in cancer 1) mRNA, which encodes a factor responsible for apoptosis regulation (72). Thus, these KSHV miRNAs are relevant for inhibiting the induction of apoptosis, which constitutes one of the cancer hallmarks listed in Table 2, 6 of cancer hallmarks.

Following evasion of host immunosurveillance and inhibition of apoptosis, another set of KSHV miRNAs maintains viral latency. Deletion of a cluster of miRNAs in the KSHV genome (but not miR-K12-10 and -12) resulted in enhanced viral lytic replication as indicated by the increased levels of RTA mRNA and MCP (major capsid protein) mRNA as well as increased virion production (73). Because RTA and MCP mRNAs encode proteins responsible for KSHV lytic infection, these results suggest that viral miRNAs are enrolled to maintain viral latency in host cells.

Three ways to maintain latency by viral miRNAs have been proposed (Figure 3). Firstly, they suppress IkappaBalpha mRNA expression, resulting in suppression of lytic gene transcription. KSHV miR-K12-1 was identified as such an miRNA by neutralization using an antagomiR (73). The neutralization experiment caused increased levels of RTA and MCP mRNAs and of the viral lytic transcripts, ORF57 and PAN (73). Secondly, KSHV miR-K12-4 causes activation of DNMTs (DNA methyl transferases), resulting in inhibition of *RTA* gene expression. For this, miR-K12-4 inhibits the Rbl2 (retinoblastoma-like protein 2) mRNA, which

encodes a repressor of DNMT (74). Thirdly, miR-K12-7 and -K12-9 target MRE-K12-7 and -K12-9 in the 3'-UTR of RTA mRNA, resulting in destabilization of the mRNA and inhibition of RTA mRNA expression (75). Thus viral miRNAs contribute to the maintenance of KSHV latency by repressing lytic gene expression.

As was discussed above for EBV oncogenesis, latent infection of KSHV can be followed by chronic, tumorpromoting inflammation (32, 41). Virally encoded miRNAs induce IL-6 and IL-10 secretion from infected human myelomonocytic cells (Figure 4) (76). This phenotype was mediated by miR-K12-3-5p and miR-K12-7, which target LIP (liver-enriched inhibitory protein) mRNA, encoding a negative transcriptional regulator of *IL*-6 and *IL-10* genes (76). These data support a role for KSHV miRNAs in programming cytokines to establish a chronic inflammatory status in the host microenvironment (Table 2, 10 of cancer hallmarks) (41).

Apart from acting on the mRNAs encoding caspase 3 and IkappaBalpha (Figures 2 and 3, respectively) miR-K12-1 also targets p21 (cyclindependent kinase inhibitor) mRNA, which encodes a key inducer of cell cycle arrest (Figure 5A) (77). Indeed, ectopically expressed miR-K12-1 specifically inhibits the expression of endogenous p21 mRNA in KSHV-negative cells and strongly attenuates the cell cycle arrest that normally occurs upon p53 activation. Furthermore, stable knockdown of this miRNA in a latently KSHV-infected PEL (primary effusion lymphoma) cell line resulted in derepression of p21 expression and increased the efficiency of cell cycle arrest following p53 activation (77).

These data thus demonstrate that miR-K12-1 represses the expression of p21, a protein with known tumor suppressor function, and further suggest that this KSHV miRNA is likely to contribute to the oncogenic potential of KSHV, leading to evasion of growth suppressors (Table 2, 2 of cancer hallmarks).

Once miR-K12-1 together with -K12-3-5p and -K12-7 promote oncogenic proliferative signaling and induce tumor-promoting inflammation, respectively, in the KSHV infected host, a group of miRNAs, including miR-K12-1, -K12-3-3p, -K12-6-3p and -K12-11 further accelerate anchorage-independent proliferation and angiogenesis by inhibiting THBS1 (Thrombospondin 1) mRNA (Figure 5B) (78). This mRNA encodes a potent inhibitor of cell adhesion, migration and angiogenesis (78). Furthermore, by directly targeting GRK2 (G protein-coupled receptor kinase 2) mRNA, miR-K12-3-5p promotes cell migration and invasion, which result from transduction of CXCR2 signaling and activation of Akt phosphorylation (Figure 6) (79).

Although KSHV and EBV follow identical paths to execute viral oncogenesis, the miRNAs of



Figure 7. The pros and cons of EBV and KSHV miRNAs for viral oncogenesis. Although both KSHV and EBV follow identical processes to execute viral oncogenesis, the ncRNAs of the two viruses have different modes of action. Almost all of the KSHV miRNAs are involved in more than one oncogenic process, whereas EBV miRNAs are specific for one particular process. Furthermore, EBV employs EBER1 and EBER2 to complete some of the processes. The dashed lines indicate possible involvement by KSHV PAN. EBV miRNAs and EBERs are in blue font and KSHV miRNAs and PAN are in red font.

the two viruses have different modes of action. Almost all of the KSHV miRNAs are involved in more than one oncogenic process, whereas EBV miRNAs are specific for one particular process (Figure 7). The contrasting ways of executing oncogenesis between KSHV and EBV may reflect the different numbers of miRNAs that each herpes virus encodes. While EBV encodes 25 miRNA precursors, resulting in the production of 48 mature miRNAs, KSHV encodes 12 miRNA precursors, producing only 25 miRNAs (46, 80, 81). Furthermore, to assign particular roles to each miRNA, EBV employs the small ncRNAs, EBER1 and EBER2, which compensate for the EBV miRNAs that are involved in oncogenesis but are not sufficient to complete the processes (Figure 7) (see below).

3.3. HPV miRNAs and oncogenesis

HPV is a well-characterized human etiological agent that is directly linked to cervical cancer. Papillomavirus-encoded miRNAs in human cervical

cancer and cell lines were first identified by Qian and colleagues (82).They established small RNA libraries from human HPV-associated cervical cancer lesions and HPV-harboring cell lines. They sequenced these libraries and discovered putative HPV-encoded miRNAs. Gene ontology analyses of the predicted cellular targets of HPV16-encoded miRNAs suggest that they might have pathological effects on cell cycle, cell migration, and cancer development (82).

4. ANOTHER CLASS OF ncRNAs ENCODED BY EBV INVOLVED IN ONCOGENESIS

As discussed in section 3.2., EBV encodes another class of ncRNA, EBER1 and EBER2 (167 and 172 nucleotides long, respectively) to complete viral oncogenesis. EBERs are the most abundant viral transcripts in latently EBV-infected cells (83), whose genes are separated by a 161 base pair intergenic segment and are transcribed from the same DNA strand (84).

EBER1 and EBER2 contribute to several features of EBV-based oncogenesis. Studies using cells derived from BL (Burkitt Lymphoma), revealed the functional correlation between EBER1 and EBER2 expression and their transformation capabilities. including oncogenicity in SCID (severe combined immunodeficiency) mice, and their ability to inhibit apoptosis via resistance to apoptotic inducers, such as cycloheximide, glucocorticoid, hypoxic stress, and upregulation of apoptosis inhibitor, Bcl-2 (Figure 2) (85). Subsequently, EBER1 was shown to inactivate the major IRG (interferon response gene) product, PKR (protein kinase R), enabling avoidance of host immunosurveillance (Figure 1) (86). A recent report further showed that gastric carcinoma cells stably expressing EBER1 and EBER2 have increased migration and invasion capabilities (53). These results thus suggested that EBER1 and EBER2 are closely involved in EBV oncogenesis, not only for transformation to malignancy, but also for the cancer initiation and progression processes, such as immune evasion, invasion and metastasis (53, 85, 86). In the following sections, we discuss how EBER1 and EBER2 contribute to EBV-dependent oncogenesis.

4.1. Molecular mechanisms of EBER1 and 2 action in viral oncogenesis

As discussed above, EBER1 and EBER2 play roles in various aspects of viral oncogenesis (87, 88). Firstly, to complete the immune evasion process, both EBV miRNAs and EBERs target IRGs but act on different molecules. While BHRF1-3 target chemokine CXCL-11/I-TAC mRNA to downregulate the CTL cytokine networks (48), EBER1 inactivates another and major IRG product, PKR (Figure 1) (86). EBER1 occupancy of the PKR dsRBD (doublestranded RNA-binding domain), affects its conformation and inhibits PKR dimer formation, resulting in failure to activate autophosphorylation (86). Although the authors did not examine the inhibitory double-strand RNA effect of EBER2 (86), another study using a dominant-negative PKR showed that both EBER1 and EBER2 conferred resistance to IFN-alphainduced apoptosis via binding to PKR and inhibiting its phosphorylation (90).

Although in acutely infected cells, EBERs induce type-I IFN expression through recognition by the cytosolic sensor, RIG-I (retinoic acid-inducible gene-I) for EBER1 and 2 (52), and the cell surface sensor, TLR3, for EBER1 (Figure 1) (89), the EBV-enrolled small ncRNAs eventually enable evasion of the immune response by attenuating the major antiviral effector, PKR (90). These results thus strongly suggest that EBV can avoid innate and acquired immunity through the cooperation of EBER1 and BHRF1-3, resulting in apoptosis inhibition (Figures 1 and 7; Table 2, 6 and 8 of cancer hallmarks).

Secondly, in addition to the induction of cvtokine expression by LMP1 (see section 3.1.). EBER1 but not EBER2 also induced IL-10 expression (91), in a manner that depends on the RIG-I-mediated IRF3 signaling pathway (Figure 4) (52). IL-10 is a prooncogenic factor, which upregulates the apoptosis inhibitor, Bcl-2 (92-94). EBER1, thus, completes the apoptosis inhibition processes through two distinct targets; PKR and IL-10. IL-10 also exhibits another pro-oncogenic effect by promoting BL cell growth (91). Furthermore, a recent report by Banerjee et al, showed that EBER1 and EBER2 activated STAT3 expression through upregulation of another cytokine. IL-6. The activated STAT3 then downregulated the cell cycle inhibitors, p21 and p27 in a gastric carcinoma cell line (53). EBER1 and EBER2, thus, cooperatively complete cell proliferation processes by modulating IL-10 and IL-6 expression in collaboration with miR-BART3, which suppresses DICE1/INTS6 expression (Figures 5A and 7) (54).

Thirdly, Banerjee and colleagues (53) also showed that EBER1 and EBER2 activate the prometastatic molecules, FAK and PAK1, and also downregulate the expression of the anti-metastatic molecules, RhoGD1 and KAI-1, which promote cell migration (Figures 6 and 7).

Moreover, both EBER1 and EBV latency type I gene products (e.g. BARF0, EBNA1 (Epstein-Barr nuclear antigen 1), and LMP2A (Latent Membrane Protein 2A)) play an additional role in tumor cell invasion by synergistically downregulating the miR-200 family (95). The miR-200 family targets ZEB1 (zinc finger E-box-binding homeobox transcription factor 1) and ZEB2 mRNAs, which encode E-cadherin repressors. Upon inhibition of the miR-200 family in a gastric carcinoma cell line, the up-regulated repressors suppress E-cadherin expression, resulting in EMT (95). Indeed, transfection of BARFO, EBNA1, and LMP2A expression plasmids downregulated the transcription of pri-miR-200 RNAs, whereas EBER1 post-transcriptionally inhibited miR-200 action (95). possibly acting as a ceRNA (competing endogenous RNA) to sequester the miR-200 family (96, 97).

These results strongly suggest that, in contrast to KSHV-encoded miRNAs, EBV miRNAs require the EBERs to complete the oncogenic process (Figures 6 and 7).

5. KSHV IncRNA PAN AND ONCOGENESIS

In lytically infected cells, KSHV expresses a <1.1. kb IncRNA, PAN, which constitutes nearly 80% of total polyadenylated RNAs in the infected cells (<500,000 copies per cell) (98, 99). Recent publications have indicated potential functions of PAN in KSHV-mediated oncogenesis, particularly in the processes of modulating host immune responses and cell proliferation.

Firstly, Rossetto and colleagues investigated the functions of PAN by isolating proteins with the IncRNA (100, 101). This proteomics study showed that PAN interacted with IRF4, which was further confirmed by a formaldehyde-based crosslinking assay (101). Expression of PAN reduced the activity of an IRF4responsive promoter in a luciferase reporter assay, suggesting that PAN could negatively regulate IRF4 activity (101). To further elucidate downstream immune response genes under control of the IRF4-responsive promoter. Rossetto et al examined the expression profiles of the genes encoding human interferonsignaling and -response factors. RT-PCR analysis of a cell line constitutively expressing PAN RNA showed reduced levels of IFN-gamma, IFN-alpha16, IL-18 and RNase L mRNAs, suggesting that KSHV PAN RNA could modulate the expression of genes involved in immune regulation (101).

RNA-Seq analysis of cell lines that express PAN RNA further showed that transcription of genes encoding factors that regulate the cell cycle, immune response and inflammation was dysregulated, which caused an enhanced growth phenotype (102). These results thus suggest that KSHV PAN RNA may complement miRNA function to complete the viral oncogenesis processes including immune evasion and cell growth (Figure 7).

6. HTLV-1 BASIC LEUCINE ZIPPER FACTOR MRNA AND ONCOGENESIS

The HTLV-1 provirus is 9 kb and encodes multiple open reading frames that are flanked by two identical 750 bp terminal repeats at the 5' and 3' ends (103). The complementary strand of the HTLV-1 provirus also harbors the *HBZ* (HTLV-1 basic leucine zipper factor) gene, which encodes HBZ, a bZIP (basic leucine zipper) transcription factor that downregulates viral transcription (104).

Intriguingly, the HBZ mRNAalso carries codingindependent regulatory functions (105, 106). The HBZ mRNA supports the proliferation of an IL-2-dependent T-cell line, Kit225. Although the precise mechanism of this action has not been clarified, the mRNA likely exerts its regulatory function by transcriptionally upregulating adenovirus E2F1 (E2 promoter-binding factor 1) mRNA, which can subsequently activate the transcription of downstream target genes to enhance cell proliferation (106). A recent study further reported that the regulatory HBZ mRNA also inhibits apoptosis in mouse CD4 T cells (105). HBZ mRNA increased transcription of the anti-apoptotic gene, *survivin*, which likely accounts for its anti-apoptotic effects. These two key functions indicate that the regulatory HBZ mRNA might contribute to the oncogenesis of HTLV-1 by sustaining proliferative signaling and resisting ATL (Adult T cell Leukemia) cell death (Table 2, 1 and 6 of cancer hallmarks).

7. H. PYLORI INFECTION AND ONCOGENESIS

Infection with *cagA* (cytotoxin-associated gene A)-positive *H. pylori* is causally associated with the development of gastric carcinoma, the third leading cause of cancer death (107-110). Dysregulation of SHP2 (Src homology 2-domain containing tyrosine phosphatase) by *H. pylori*-delivered CagA is considered to play a key role in the neoplastic transformation of gastric epithelial cells (111).

A recent report showed that CagA also targeted SHP1, the only homologue of SHP2 (112), resulting in the dephosphorylation of CagA that dampens its oncogenic action (113). Interestingly, *in vitro* infection of gastric epithelial cells with EBV caused *SHP1* promoter hypermethylation, which strengthened the phosphorylation-dependent CagA action by epigenetic downregulation of *SHP1* expression (113).

H. pylori and EBV are involved in roughly 90% and 10%, respectively, of gastric tumorigenesis (110, 114), which indicates that a considerable portion of EBV-positive patients may be superinfected with *H. pylori*. The *in vitro* experiment reported by Hatakeyama and colleagues (113), indicates that it is conceivable for gastric epithelial cells co-infected with the above two pathogens, EBV miRNAs and/or EBERs, to modulate DMNT action, leading to the promotion of neoplastic transformation through activated CagA protein function.

8. HCV miRNA AND ONCOGENESIS

HCV infection is responsible for 70-85% of worldwide HCC (hepatocellular carcinoma) (115). For the pathogenesis of HCC following HCV infection, a recent report showed that HCV vmr11 was sufficient to confer infected hepatocytes with invasive properties (116). To exert this oncogenic function, vmr11 targets HNF4alpha (hepatocyte nuclear factor 4alpha) mRNA, resulting in reduced HNF4alpha expression levels (116). Sustained loss of HNF4alpha protein expression in HCV-infected hepatocytes induces the expression of EMT regulatory genes; such as TGFB (transforming growth factor beta), Snail and HMGA2 (high mobility group AT-hook 2), which are associated with reduced E-cadherin protein expression (Figure 6) (116). TGF-beta, a soluble growth factor having multiple functions at EMT, together with HMGA2, activates Snail expression (117). Snail is a negative transcriptional regulator of CDH1 (Cadherin 1) (118);



Figure 8. Chromosome breakage and translocation by pathogen-associated ncRNA. The HCV miRNA, vmr11, targets TNPO2 mRNA, which encodes a transportin for the nuclear import of PTEN. Nuclear PTEN acts on chromatin or the promoter of *Rad51*. Rad51 is critical for chromosomal stability via the control of DSB repair; therefore, vmr11-dependent nuclear exclusion of PTEN results in failure of DSB repair and chromosome breakage and translocation. The HCV miRNA is in green font.

therefore, the downregulation of E-cadherin protein results in EMT.

9. PERSPECTIVES

vmr11 also targets TNPO2 (Transportin-2) mRNA, resulting in restricted nuclear translocation of PTEN protein in HCV-infected human hepatocytes (119). This result was substantiated by the restoration of intracellular TNPO2 levels, which rescued the expression levels of nuclear PTEN. These results thus support a novel mechanism for regulating the expression levels of PTEN in the nucleus; a vmr11-dependent reduction of TNPO2 mRNA levels leads to the exclusion of PTEN from the nucleus in virally infected hepatocytes (119).

PTEN might be involved in the transcriptional regulation of *Rad51* by acting on chromatin or its promoter (120). Rad51 is critical for chromosomal stability, presumably through controlling DSB (double-strand break) repair (121). Therefore, the PTEN-Rad51 DNA repair pathway provides a mechanistic basis for a DSB repair defect in the nucleus of HCV-infected hepatocytes, which can give rise to chromosomal breakage and translocation (Figure 8). It is thus plausible that the nuclear exclusion of PTEN by vmr11 promotes genomic instability in HCV-infected hepatocytes, which would lead to the acquisition of invasion and metastasis capabilities (Table 2, 9 and 4 of cancer hallmarks) and cancer susceptibility (120).

The development of sequencing technologies and the evolution of bioinformatic methodologies revealed the presence of large numbers of ncRNAs encoded by oncogenic pathogens. This progress has deepened our knowledge of the regulatory functions of ncRNAs, leading to proposals of new forms of circuitry for ncRNA-dependent oncogenesis.

The inherent nature of pathogen-associated regulatory ncRNA circuitry may have important sequelae for viral and bacterial oncogenesis. ncRNAs deregulate and disrupt the function of a number of cellular factors, for example those responsible for the immunological monitoring that reduces pathogenic burden, for governing the apoptotic program, and for controlling the careful production and release of growth-promoting signals. Such deregulation ultimately leads to the hallmarks of cancer (31) that are generated during the multistep development of infectious cancers. The proposal by Hanahan and Weinberg, that the complexity of cancer can be reduced to six underlying principles or hallmarks (see Table 2) that govern the transformation of normal cells to cancer cells, has changed over the years. They later proposed four additional hallmarks: (1) abnormal metabolic pathways, (2) evading the immune system, (3) genome instability, and (4) inflammation (Table 2) (32). The new form of

circuitry for gene regulation by pathogen-associated regulatory ncRNAs discussed throughout this review generates the genetic diversity or even abnormality that underlies the acquisition of processes that form the cancer hallmarks.

ncRNAs are generally expressed in a tissuespecific manner and exhibit aberrant expression in cancers. Therefore, targeting and either downregulating or upregulating specific IncRNAs in malignancies may not have deleterious side effects on normal cells. Although the circuitry requires much investigation to fully determine the mechanisms of its action on pathogen-associated oncogenesis, it seems plausible that key pathogen-associated oncogenic ncRNAs and/or host tumor-suppressor ncRNAs, if any, provide new therapeutic targets for the treatment of pathogenassociated cancers.

10. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported in part by the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS) KAKENHI, grant Nos. JP15K06885 (NY) and JP15K06926 (TK).

11. REFERENCES

1. E. S. Lander, L. M. Linton, B. Birren, C. Nusbaum, M. C. Zody, J. Baldwin, K. Devon, K. Dewar, M. Doyle, W. FitzHugh, R. Funke, D. Gage, K. Harris, A. Heaford, J. Howland, L. Kann, J. Lehoczky, R. LeVine, P. McEwan, K. McKernan, J. Meldrim, J. P. Mesirov, C. Miranda, W. Morris, J. Navlor, C. Raymond, M. Rosetti, R. Santos, A. Sheridan, C. Sougnez, Y. Stange-Thomann, N. Stojanovic, A. Subramanian, D. Wyman, J. Rogers, J. Sulston, R. Ainscough, S. Beck, D. Bentley, J. Burton, C. Clee, N. Carter, A. Coulson, R. Deadman, P. Deloukas, A. Dunham, I. Dunham, R. Durbin, L. French, D. Grafham, S. Gregory, T. Hubbard, S. Humphray, A. Hunt, M. Jones, C. Lloyd, A. McMurray, L. Matthews, S. Mercer, S. Milne, J. C. Mullikin, A. Mungall, R. Plumb, M. Ross, R. Shownkeen, S. Sims, R. H. Waterston, R. K. Wilson, L. W. Hillier, J. D. McPherson, M. A. Marra, E. R. Mardis, L. A. Fulton, A. T. Chinwalla, K. H. Pepin, W. R. Gish, S. L. Chissoe, M. C. Wendl, K. D. Delehaunty, T. L. Miner, A. Delehaunty, J. B. Kramer, L. L. Cook, R. S. Fulton, D. L. Johnson, P. J. Minx, S. W. Clifton, T. Hawkins, E. Branscomb, P. Predki, P. Richardson, S. Wenning, T. Slezak, N. Doggett, J. F. Cheng, A. Olsen, S. Lucas, C. Elkin, E. Uberbacher, M. Frazier, R. A. Gibbs, D. M. Muzny, S. E.

Scherer, J. B. Bouck, E. J. Sodergren, K. C. Worley, C. M. Rives, J. H. Gorrell, M. L. Metzker, S. L. Naylor, R. S. Kucherlapati, D. L. Nelson, G. M. Weinstock, Y. Sakaki, A. Fujivama, M. Hattori, T. Yada, A. Tovoda, T. Itoh, C. Kawagoe, H. Watanabe, Y. Totoki, T. Taylor, J. Weissenbach, R. Heilig, W. Saurin, F. Artiguenave, P. Brottier, T. Bruls, E. Pelletier, C. Robert, P. Wincker, D. R. Smith, L. Doucette-Stamm, M. Rubenfield, K. Weinstock, H. M. Lee, J. Dubois, A. Rosenthal, M. Platzer, G. Nyakatura, S. Taudien, A. Rump, H. Yang, J. Yu, J. Wang, G. Huang, J. Gu, L. Hood, L. Rowen, A. Madan, S. Qin, R. W. Davis, N. A. Federspiel, A. P. Abola, M. J. Proctor, R. M. Myers, J. Schmutz, M. Dickson, J. Grimwood, D. R. Cox, M. V. Olson, R. Kaul, C. Raymond, N. Shimizu, K. Kawasaki, S. Minoshima. G. A. Evans, M. Athanasiou, R. Schultz, B. A. Roe, F. Chen, H. Pan, J. Ramser, H. Lehrach, R. Reinhardt, W. R. McCombie, M. de la Bastide, N. Dedhia, H. Blocker, K. Hornischer, G. Nordsiek, R. Agarwala, L. Aravind, J. A. Bailey, A. Bateman, S. Batzoglou, E. Birney, P. Bork, D. G. Brown, C. B. Burge, L. Cerutti, H. C. Chen, D. Church, M. Clamp, R. R. Copley, T. Doerks, S. R. Eddy, E. E. Eichler, T. S. Furey, J. Galagan. J. G. Gilbert, C. Harmon, Y. Hayashizaki, D. Haussler, H. Hermjakob, K. Hokamp, W. Jang, L. S. Johnson, T. A. Jones, S. Kasif, A. Kaspryzk, S. Kennedy, W. J. Kent, P. Kitts, E. V. Koonin, I. Korf, D. Kulp, D. Lancet, T. M. Lowe, A. McLysaght, T. Mikkelsen, J. V. Moran, N. Mulder, V. J. Pollara, C. P. Ponting, G. Schuler, J. Schultz, G. Slater, A. F. Smit, E. Stupka, J. Szustakowki, D. Thierry-Mieg, J. Thierry-Mieg, L. Wagner, J. Wallis, R. Wheeler, A. Williams, Y. I. Wolf, K. H. Wolfe, S. P. Yang, R. F. Yeh, F. Collins, M. S. Guver, J. Peterson, A. Felsenfeld, K. A. Wetterstrand, A. Patrinos, M. J. Morgan, P. de Jong, J. J. Catanese, K. Osoegawa, H. Shizuya, S. Choi, Y. J. Chen, J. Szustakowki and C. International Human Genome Sequencing: Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. Nature, 409(6822), 860-921 (2001) DOI: 10.1038/35057062

- E. P. Consortium: An integrated encyclopedia of DNA elements in the human genome. *Nature*, 489(7414), 57-74 (2012) DOI: 10.1038/nature11247
- S. Djebali, C. A. Davis, A. Merkel, A. Dobin, T. Lassmann, A. Mortazavi, A. Tanzer, J. Lagarde, W. Lin, F. Schlesinger, C. Xue,

G. K. Marinov, J. Khatun, B. A. Williams, C. Zaleski, J. Rozowsky, M. Roder, F. Kokocinski, R. F. Abdelhamid, T. Alioto, I. Antoshechkin, M. T. Baer, N. S. Bar, P. Batut, K. Bell, I. Bell, S. Chakraborttv, X. Chen, J. Chrast, J. Curado, T. Derrien, J. Drenkow, E. Dumais, J. Dumais, R. Duttagupta, E. Falconnet, M. Fastuca, K. Fejes-Toth, P. Ferreira, S. Foissac, M. J. Fullwood, H. Gao, D. Gonzalez, A. Gordon, H. Gunawardena, C. Howald, S. Jha, R. Johnson, P. Kapranov, B. King, C. Kingswood, O. J. Luo, E. Park, K. Persaud, J. B. Preall, P. Ribeca, B. Risk, D. Robyr, M. Sammeth, L. Schaffer, L. H. See, A. Shahab, J. Skancke, A. M. Suzuki, H. Takahashi, H. Tilgner, D. Trout, N. Walters, H. Wang, J. Wrobel, Y. Yu, X. Ruan, Y. Havashizaki, J. Harrow, M. Gerstein, T. Hubbard, A. Reymond, S. E. Antonarakis, G. Hannon, M. C. Giddings, Y. Ruan, B. Wold, P. Carninci, R. Guigo and T. R. Gingeras: Landscape of transcription in human cells. Nature, 489(7414), 101-8 (2012) DOI: 10.1038/nature11233

- 4. F. Crick: Central dogma of molecular biology. *Nature*, 227(5258), 561-3 (1970) DOI: 10.1038/227561a0
- J. R. Ecker, W. A. Bickmore, I. Barroso, J. K. Pritchard, Y. Gilad and E. Segal: Genomics: ENCODE explained. *Nature*, 489(7414), 52-5 (2012) DOI: 10.1038/489052a
- F. F. Costa: Non-coding RNAs: could they be the answer? *Brief Funct Genomics*, 10(5), 316-9 (2011) DOI: 10.1093/bfgp/elq029
- K. Numata and H. Kiyosawa: Genome-wide impact of endogenous antisense transcripts in eukaryotes. *Front Biosci (Landmark Ed)*, 17, 300-15 (2012) DOI: 10.2741/3928
- C. H. Li and Y. Chen: Targeting long noncoding RNAs in cancers: progress and prospects. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 45(8), 1895-910 (2013) DOI: 10.1016/j.biocel.2013.05.030
- W. Y. Su, J. T. Li, Y. Cui, J. Hong, W. Du, Y. C. Wang, Y. W. Lin, H. Xiong, J. L. Wang, X. Kong, Q. Y. Gao, L. P. Wei and J. Y. Fang: Bidirectional regulation between WDR83 and its natural antisense transcript DHPS in gastric cancer. *Cell Res*, 22(9), 1374-89 (2012) DOI: 10.1038/cr.2012.57

- P. Johnsson, A. Ackley, L. Vidarsdottir, W. O. Lui, M. Corcoran, D. Grander and K. V. Morris: A pseudogene long-noncoding-RNA network regulates PTEN transcription and translation in human cells. *Nat Struct Mol Biol*, 20(4), 440-6 (2013) DOI: 10.1038/nsmb.2516
- 11. T. Gutschner and S. Diederichs: The hallmarks of cancer: a long non-coding RNA point of view. *RNA Biol*, 9(6), 703-19 (2012) DOI: 10.4161/rna.20481
- M. Nishizawa, Y. Ikeya, T. Okumura and T. Kimura: Post-transcriptional inducible gene regulation by natural antisense RNA. *Front Biosci (Landmark Ed)*, 20, 1-36 (2015) DOI: 10.2741/4297
- M. Nishizawa, T. Okumura, Y. Ikeya and T. Kimura: Regulation of inducible gene expression by natural antisense transcripts. *Front Biosci (Landmark Ed)*, 17, 938-58 (2012) DOI: 10.2741/3965
- J. H. Luo, B. Ren, S. Keryanov, G. C. Tseng, U. N. Rao, S. P. Monga, S. Strom, A. J. Demetris, M. Nalesnik, Y. P. Yu, S. Ranganathan and G. K. Michalopoulos: Transcriptomic and genomic analysis of human hepatocellular carcinomas and hepatoblastomas. *Hepatology*, 44(4), 1012-24 (2006) DOI: 10.1002/hep.21328
- M. Huarte, M. Guttman, D. Feldser, M. Garber, M. J. Koziol, D. Kenzelmann-Broz, A. M. Khalil, O. Zuk, I. Amit, M. Rabani, L. D. Attardi, A. Regev, E. S. Lander, T. Jacks and J. L. Rinn: A large intergenic noncoding RNA induced by p53 mediates global gene repression in the p53 response. *Cell*, 142(3), 409-19 (2010) DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.06.040
- 16. Y. J. Geng, S. L. Xie, Q. Li, J. Ma and G. Y. Wang: Large intervening non-coding RNA HOTAIR is associated with hepatocellular carcinoma progression. *J Int Med Res*, 39(6), 2119-28 (2011) DOI: 10.1177/147323001103900608
- R. Kogo, T. Shimamura, K. Mimori, K. Kawahara, S. Imoto, T. Sudo, F. Tanaka, K. Shibata, A. Suzuki, S. Komune, S. Miyano and M. Mori: Long noncoding RNA HOTAIR regulates polycomb-dependent chromatin modification and is associated with poor prognosis in colorectal cancers. *Cancer Res*, 71(20), 6320-6 (2011) DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-1021

- J. R. Prensner, M. K. Iyer, O. A. Balbin, S. M. Dhanasekaran, Q. Cao, J. C. Brenner, B. Laxman, I. A. Asangani, C. S. Grasso, H. D. Kominsky, X. Cao, X. Jing, X. Wang, J. Siddiqui, J. T. Wei, D. Robinson, H. K. Iyer, N. Palanisamy, C. A. Maher and A. M. Chinnaiyan: Transcriptome sequencing across a prostate cancer cohort identifies PCAT-1, an unannotated lincRNA implicated in disease progression. *Nat Biotechnol*, 29(8), 742-9 (2011) DOI: 10.1038/nbt.1914
- L. H. Schmidt, T. Spieker, S. Koschmieder, S. Schaffers, J. Humberg, D. Jungen, E. Bulk, A. Hascher, D. Wittmer, A. Marra, L. Hillejan, K. Wiebe, W. E. Berdel, R. Wiewrodt and C. Muller-Tidow: The long noncoding MALAT-1 RNA indicates a poor prognosis in non-small cell lung cancer and induces migration and tumor growth. *J Thorac Oncol*, 6(12), 1984-92 (2011)

DOI: 10.1097/JTO.0b013e3182307eac

- J. M. Silva, N. J. Boczek, M. W. Berres, X. Ma and D. I. Smith: LSINCT5 is over expressed in breast and ovarian cancer and affects cellular proliferation. *RNA Biol*, 8(3), 496-505 (2011) DOI: 10.4161/rna.8.3.14800
- T. Niinuma, H. Suzuki, M. Nojima, K. Nosho, H. Yamamoto, H. Takamaru, E. Yamamoto, R. Maruyama, T. Nobuoka, Y. Miyazaki, T. Nishida, T. Bamba, T. Kanda, Y. Ajioka, T. Taguchi, S. Okahara, H. Takahashi, Y. Nishida, M. Hosokawa, T. Hasegawa, T. Tokino, K. Hirata, K. Imai, M. Toyota and Y. Shinomura: Upregulation of miR-196a and HOTAIR drive malignant character in gastrointestinal stromal tumors. *Cancer Res*, 72(5), 1126-36 (2012) DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-1803
- Y. Han, Y. Liu, Y. Gui and Z. Cai: Long intergenic non-coding RNA TUG1 is overexpressed in urothelial carcinoma of the bladder. *J Surg Oncol*, 107(5), 555-9 (2013) DOI: 10.1002/jso.23264
- K. Kim, I. Jutooru, G. Chadalapaka, G. Johnson, J. Frank, R. Burghardt, S. Kim and S. Safe: HOTAIR is a negative prognostic factor and exhibits pro-oncogenic activity in pancreatic cancer. *Oncogene*, 32(13), 1616-25 (2013) DOI: 10.1038/onc.2012.193

- A. Zhang, M. Xu and Y. Y. Mo: Role of the IncRNA-p53 regulatory network in cancer. *J Mol Cell Biol*, 6(3), 181-91 (2014) DOI: 10.1093/jmcb/mju013
- R. Maruyama, M. Shipitsin, S. Choudhury, Z. Wu, A. Protopopov, J. Yao, P. K. Lo, M. Bessarabova, A. Ishkin, Y. Nikolsky, X. S. Liu, S. Sukumar and K. Polyak: Altered antisense-to-sense transcript ratios in breast cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 109(8), 2820-4 (2012) DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1010559107
- 26. J. Liz and M. Esteller: IncRNAs and microRNAs with a role in cancer development. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1859(1), 169-76 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.bbagrm.2015.06.015
- P. S. Moore and Y. Chang: Why do viruses cause cancer? Highlights of the first century of human tumour virology. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 10(12), 878-89 (2010) DOI: 10.1038/nrc2961
- M. Plummer, C. de Martel, J. Vignat, J. Ferlay, F. Bray and S. Franceschi: Global burden of cancers attributable to infections in 2012: a synthetic analysis. *The Lancet Global Health*, 4(9), e609-e616 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/S2214-109X(16)30143-7
- 29. R. M. Peek, Jr. and M. J. Blaser: Helicobacter pylori and gastrointestinal tract adenocarcinomas. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 2(1), 28-37 (2002) DOI: 10.1038/nrc703
- K. T. Tycowski, Y. E. Guo, N. Lee, W. N. Moss, T. K. Vallery, M. Xie and J. A. Steitz: Viral noncoding RNAs: more surprises. *Genes Dev*, 29(6), 567-84 (2015) DOI: 10.1101/gad.259077.115
- 31. D. Hanahan and R. A. Weinberg: The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell*, 100(1), 57-70 (2000) DOI: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81683-9
- D. Hanahan and R. A. Weinberg: Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell*, 144(5), 646-74 (2011) DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- S. Barth, T. Pfuhl, A. Mamiani, C. Ehses, K. Roemer, E. Kremmer, C. Jaker, J. Hock, G. Meister and F. A. Grasser: Epstein-Barr virus-encoded microRNA miR-BART2 down-

regulates the viral DNA polymerase BALF5. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 36(2), 666-75 (2008) DOI: 10.1093/nar/gkm1080

- E. Y. Choy, K. L. Siu, K. H. Kok, R. W. Lung, C. M. Tsang, K. F. To, D. L. Kwong, S. W. Tsao and D. Y. Jin: An Epstein-Barr virus-encoded microRNA targets PUMA to promote host cell survival. *J Exp Med*, 205(11), 2551-60 (2008) DOI: 10.1084/jem.20072581
- 35. A. R. Marquitz, A. Mathur, C. S. Nam and N. Raab-Traub: The Epstein-Barr Virus BART microRNAs target the pro-apoptotic protein Bim. *Virology*, 412(2), 392-400 (2011) DOI: 10.1016/j.virol.2011.01.028
- R. L. Skalsky, D. L. Corcoran, E. Gottwein, C. L. Frank, D. Kang, M. Hafner, J. D. Nusbaum, R. Feederle, H. J. Delecluse, M. A. Luftig, T. Tuschl, U. Ohler and B. R. Cullen: The viral and cellular microRNA targetome in lymphoblastoid cell lines. *PLoS Pathog*, 8(1), e1002484 (2012) DOI: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002484
- L. Dolken, G. Malterer, F. Erhard, S. Kothe, C. C. Friedel, G. Suffert, L. Marcinowski, N. Motsch, S. Barth, M. Beitzinger, D. Lieber, S. M. Bailer, R. Hoffmann, Z. Ruzsics, E. Kremmer, S. Pfeffer, R. Zimmer, U. H. Koszinowski, F. Grasser, G. Meister and J. Haas: Systematic analysis of viral and cellular microRNA targets in cells latently infected with human gamma-herpesviruses by RISC immunoprecipitation assay. *Cell Host Microbe*, 7(4), 324-34 (2010) DOI: 10.1016/j.chom.2010.03.008
- A. Hannigan, A. M. Qureshi, C. Nixon, P. M. Tsimbouri, S. Jones, A. W. Philbey and J. B. Wilson: Lymphocyte deficiency limits Epstein-Barr virus latent membrane protein 1 induced chronic inflammation and carcinogenic pathology *in vivo. Mol Cancer*, 10(1), 11 (2011) DOI: 10.1186/1476-4598-10-11
- 39. J. Vilcek and T. H. Lee: Tumor necrosis factor. New insights into the molecular mechanisms of its multiple actions. *J Biol Chem*, 266(12), 7313-6 (1991)
- 40. M. Karin and F. R. Greten: NF-kappaB: linking inflammation and immunity to cancer development and progression. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 5(10), 749-59 (2005) DOI: 10.1038/nri1703

- 41. L. M. Coussens and Z. Werb: Inflammation and cancer. *Nature*, 420(6917), 860-7 (2002) DOI: 10.1038/nature01322
- Z. Sun, S. Wang and R. C. Zhao: The roles of mesenchymal stem cells in tumor inflammatory microenvironment. *J Hematol Oncol*, 7, 14 (2014) DOI: 10.1186/1756-8722-7-14
- S. Landi, V. Moreno, L. Gioia-Patricola, E. Guino, M. Navarro, J. de Oca, G. Capella, F. Canzian and G. Bellvitge Colorectal Cancer Study: Association of common polymorphisms in inflammatory genes interleukin (*IL*)6, *IL*8, tumor necrosis factor alpha, *NFKB1*, and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma with colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res*, 63(13), 3560-6 (2003)
- 44. R. H. Edwards, A. R. Marquitz and N. Raab-Traub: Epstein-Barr virus BART microRNAs are produced from a large intron prior to splicing. *J Virol*, 82(18), 9094-106 (2008) DOI: 10.1128/JVI.00785-08
- 45. A. Grundhoff, C. S. Sullivan and D. Ganem: A combined computational and microarraybased approach identifies novel microRNAs encoded by human gamma-herpesviruses. *RNA*, 12(5), 733-50 (2006) DOI: 10.1261/rna.2326106
- 46. R. P. Kincaid and C. S. Sullivan: Virusencoded microRNAs: an overview and a look to the future. *PLoS Pathog*, 8(12), e1003018 (2012) DOI: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003018
- T. Xia, A. O'Hara, I. Araujo, J. Barreto, E. Carvalho, J. B. Sapucaia, J. C. Ramos, E. Luz, C. Pedroso, M. Manrique, N. L. Toomey, C. Brites, D. P. Dittmer and W. J. Harrington, Jr.: EBV microRNAs in primary lymphomas and targeting of CXCL-11 by ebv-mir-BHRF1-3. *Cancer Res*, 68(5), 1436-42 (2008) DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-5126
- 48. H. L. Ploegh: Viral strategies of immune evasion. *Science*, 280(5361), 248-53 (1998) DOI: 10.1126/science.280.5361.248
- M. R. Ambrosio, M. Navari, L. Di Lisio, E. A. Leon, A. Onnis, S. Gazaneo, L. Mundo, C. Ulivieri, G. Gomez, S. Lazzi, M. A. Piris, L. Leoncini and G. De Falco: The Epstein Barr-encoded BART-6-3p microRNA affects

regulation of cell growth and immuno response in Burkitt lymphoma. *Infect Agent Cancer*, 9, 12 (2014) DOI: 10.1186/1750-9378-9-12

- E. Seto, A. Moosmann, S. Gromminger, N. Walz, A. Grundhoff and W. Hammerschmidt: Micro RNAs of Epstein-Barr virus promote cell cycle progression and prevent apoptosis of primary human B cells. *PLoS Pathog*, 6(8), e1001063 (2010) DOI: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1001063
- H. Iizasa, B. E. Wulff, N. R. Alla, M. Maragkakis, M. Megraw, A. Hatzigeorgiou, D. Iwakiri, K. Takada, A. Wiedmer, L. Showe, P. Lieberman and K. Nishikura: Editing of Epstein-Barr virus-encoded BART6 microRNAs controls their dicer targeting and consequently affects viral latency. *J Biol Chem*, 285(43), 33358-70 (2010) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M110.138362
- M. Samanta, D. Iwakiri, T. Kanda, T. Imaizumi and K. Takada: EB virus-encoded RNAs are recognized by RIG-I and activate signaling to induce type I IFN. *EMBO J*, 25(18), 4207-14 (2006) DOI: 10.1038/sj.emboj.7601314
- A. S. Banerjee, A. D. Pal and S. Banerjee: Epstein-Barr virus-encoded small non-coding RNAs induce cancer cell chemoresistance and migration. *Virology*, 443(2), 294-305 (2013) DOI: 10.1016/j.virol.2013.05.020
- T. Lei, K. S. Yuen, R. Xu, S. W. Tsao, H. Chen, M. Li, K. H. Kok and D. Y. Jin: Targeting of DICE1 tumor suppressor by Epstein-Barr virus-encoded miR-BART3* microRNA in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Int J Cancer*, 133(1), 79-87 (2013) DOI: 10.1002/ijc.28007
- 55. J. W. Pollard: Tumour-educated macrophages promote tumour progression and metastasis. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 4(1), 71-8 (2004) DOI: 10.1038/nrc1256
- J. Condeelis and J. W. Pollard: Macrophages: obligate partners for tumor cell migration, invasion, and metastasis. *Cell*, 124(2), 263-6 (2006) DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.01.007
- 57. J. Wyckoff, W. Wang, E. Y. Lin, Y. Wang, F. Pixley, E. R. Stanley, T. Graf, J. W. Pollard, J. Segall and J. Condeelis: A paracrine loop

between tumor cells and macrophages is required for tumor cell migration in mammary tumors. *Cancer Res*, 64(19), 7022-9 (2004)

DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1449

- H. Yamaguchi, F. Pixley and J. Condeelis: Invadopodia and podosomes in tumor invasion. *Eur J Cell Biol*, 85(3-4), 213-8 (2006) DOI: 10.1016/j.ejcb.2005.10.004
- C. Murdoch, A. Giannoudis and C. E. Lewis: Mechanisms regulating the recruitment of macrophages into hypoxic areas of tumors and other ischemic tissues. *Blood*, 104(8), 2224-34 (2004) DOI: 10.1016/j.ejcb.2005.10.004
- Y. Yang, M. Sun, L. Wang and B. Jiao: HIFs, angiogenesis, and cancer. *J Cell Biochem*, 114(5), 967-74 (2013) DOI: 10.1002/jcb.24438
- 61. C. Y. Hsu, Y. H. Yi, K. P. Chang, Y. S. Chang, S. J. Chen and H. C. Chen: The Epstein-Barr virus-encoded microRNA MiR-BART9 promotes tumor metastasis by targeting E-cadherin in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *PLoS Pathog*, 10(2), e1003974 (2014) DOI: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003974
- T. Kanda, M. Miyata, M. Kano, S. Kondo, T. Yoshizaki and H. Iizasa: Clustered microRNAs of the Epstein-Barr virus cooperatively downregulate an epithelial cell-specific metastasis suppressor. *J Virol*, 89(5), 2684-97 (2015) DOI: 10.1128/JVI.03189-14
- Z. Chen, D. Zhang, F. Yue, M. Zheng, Z. Kovacevic and D. R. Richardson: The iron chelators Dp44mT and DFO inhibit TGF-beta-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition via up-regulation of N-Myc downstream-regulated gene 1 (NDRG1). *J Biol Chem*, 287(21), 17016-28 (2012) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M112.350470
- 64. R. Jin, W. Liu, S. Menezes, F. Yue, M. Zheng, Z. Kovacevic and D. R. Richardson: The metastasis suppressor NDRG1 modulates the phosphorylation and nuclear translocation of beta-catenin through mechanisms involving FRAT1 and PAK4. *J Cell Sci*, 127(Pt 14), 3116-30 (2014) DOI: 10.1242/jcs.147835

- B. R. Cullen: Viruses and microRNAs. *Nat Genet*, 38 Suppl, S25-30 (2006) DOI: 10.1038/ng1793
- 66. E. Gottwein and B. R. Cullen: Viral and cellular microRNAs as determinants of viral pathogenesis and immunity. *Cell Host Microbe*, 3(6), 375-87 (2008) DOI: 10.1016/j.chom.2008.05.002
- J. R. Abend, D. Ramalingam, P. Kieffer-Kwon, T. S. Uldrick, R. Yarchoan and J. M. Ziegelbauer: Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus microRNAs target IRAK1 and MYD88, two components of the toll-like receptor/interleukin-1R signaling cascade, to reduce inflammatory-cytokine expression. *J Virol*, 86(21), 11663-74 (2012) DOI: 10.1128/JVI.01147-12
- D. Liang, Y. Gao, X. Lin, Z. He, Q. Zhao, Q. Deng and K. Lan: A human herpesvirus miRNA attenuates interferon signaling and contributes to maintenance of viral latency by targeting IKKepsilon. *Cell Res*, 21(5), 793-806 (2011) DOI: 10.1038/cr.2011.5
- J. M. Ziegelbauer, C. S. Sullivan and D. Ganem: Tandem array-based expression screens identify host mRNA targets of virusencoded microRNAs. *Nat Genet*, 41(1), 130-4 (2009) DOI: 10.1038/ng.266
- J. R. Abend, T. Uldrick and J. M. Ziegelbauer: Regulation of tumor necrosis factorlike weak inducer of apoptosis receptor protein (TWEAKR) expression by Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus microRNA prevents TWEAK-induced apoptosis and inflammatory cytokine expression. *J Virol*, 84(23), 12139-51 (2010) DOI: 10.1128/JVI.00884-10
- G. Suffert, G. Malterer, J. Hausser, J. Viiliainen, A. Fender, M. Contrant, T. Ivacevic, V. Benes, F. Gros, O. Voinnet, M. Zavolan, P. M. Ojala, J. G. Haas and S. Pfeffer: Kaposi's sarcoma herpesvirus microRNAs target caspase 3 and regulate apoptosis. *PLoS Pathog*, 7(12), e1002405 (2011) DOI: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002405
- R. L. Skalsky, M. A. Samols, K. B. Plaisance, I. W. Boss, A. Riva, M. C. Lopez, H. V. Baker and R. Renne: Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus encodes an ortholog of miR-155. *J Virol*, 81(23), 12836-45 (2007) DOI: 10.1128/JVI.01804-07

- X. Lei, Z. Bai, F. Ye, J. Xie, C. G. Kim, Y. Huang and S. J. Gao: Regulation of NFkappaB inhibitor IkappaBalpha and viral replication by a KSHV microRNA. *Nat Cell Biol*, 12(2), 193-9 (2010) DOI: 10.1038/ncb2019
- 74. F. Lu, W. Stedman, M. Yousef, R. Renne and P. M. Lieberman: Epigenetic regulation of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus latency by virus-encoded microRNAs that target Rta and the cellular Rbl2-DNMT pathway. *J Virol*, 84(6), 2697-706 (2010) DOI: 10.1128/JVI.01997-09
- 75. X. Lin, D. Liang, Z. He, Q. Deng, E. S. Robertson and K. Lan: miR-K12-7-5p encoded by Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus stabilizes the latent state by targeting viral ORF50/RTA. *PLoS One*, 6(1), e16224 (2011) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0016224
- 76. Z. Qin, P. Kearney, K. Plaisance and C. H. Parsons: Pivotal Advance: Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV)encoded microRNA specifically induce IL-6 and IL-10 secretion by macrophages and monocytes. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 87(1), 25-34 (2009) DOI: 10.1189/jlb.0409251
- 77. E. Gottwein and B. R. Cullen: A human herpesvirus microRNA inhibits p21 expression and attenuates p21-mediated cell cycle arrest. *J Virol*, 84(10), 5229-37 (2010)
 DOI: 10.1128/JVI.00202-10
- 78. M. A. Samols, R. L. Skalsky, A. M. Maldonado, A. Riva, M. C. Lopez, H. V. Baker and R. Renne: Identification of cellular genes targeted by KSHV-encoded microRNAs. *PLoS Pathog*, 3(5), e65 (2007) DOI: 10.1371/journal.ppat.0030065
- M. Hu, C. Wang, W. Li, W. Lu, Z. Bai, D. Qin, Q. Yan, J. Zhu, B. J. Krueger, R. Renne, S. J. Gao and C. Lu: A KSHV microRNA Directly Targets G Protein-Coupled Receptor Kinase 2 to Promote the Migration and Invasion of Endothelial Cells by Inducing CXCR2 and Activating AKT Signaling. *PLoS Pathog*, 11(9), e1005171 (2015) DOI: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005171
- 80. Y. J. Xie, Z. F. Long and X. S. He: Involvement of EBV-encoded BARTmiRNAs and dysregulated cellular miRNAs in nasopharyngeal carcinoma genesis.

Asian Pac J Cancer Prev, 14(10), 5637-44 (2013) DOI: 10.7314/APJCP.2013.14.10.5637

- A. K. Lo, C. W. Dawson, D. Y. Jin and K. W. Lo: The pathological roles of BART miRNAs in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *J Pathol*, 227(4), 392-403 (2012) DOI: 10.1002/path.4025
- K. Qian, T. Pietila, M. Ronty, F. Michon, M. J. Frilander, J. Ritari, J. Tarkkanen, L. Paulin, P. Auvinen and E. Auvinen: Identification and validation of human papillomavirus encoded microRNAs. *PLoS One*, 8(7), e70202 (2013) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0070202
- L. Rymo: Identification of transcribed regions of Epstein-Barr virus DNA in Burkitt lymphoma-derived cells. *J Virol*, 32(1), 8-18 (1979)
- 84. M. D. Rosa, E. Gottlieb, M. R. Lerner and J. A. Steitz: Striking similarities are exhibited by two small Epstein-Barr virus-encoded ribonucleic acids and the adenovirusassociated ribonucleic acids VAI and VAII. *Mol Cell Biol*, 1(9), 785-96 (1981) DOI: 10.1128/MCB.1.9.785
- J. Komano, S. Maruo, K. Kurozumi, T. Oda and K. Takada: Oncogenic role of Epstein-Barr virus-encoded RNAs in Burkitt's lymphoma cell line Akata. *J Virol*, 73(12), 9827-31 (1999)
- 86. S. A. McKenna, D. A. Lindhout, T. Shimoike, C. E. Aitken and J. D. Puglisi: Viral dsRNA inhibitors prevent self-association and autophosphorylation of PKR. *J Mol Biol*, 372(1), 103-13 (2007) DOI: 10.1016/j.jmb.2007.06.028
- 87. W. Ahmed and G. Khan: The labyrinth of interactions of Epstein-Barr virus-encoded small RNAs. *Rev Med Virol*, 24(1), 3-14 (2014) DOI: 10.1002/rmv.1763
- A. Giudice, G. D'Arena, A. Crispo, M. F. Tecce, F. Nocerino, M. Grimaldi, E. Rotondo, A. M. D'Ursi, M. Scrima, M. Galdiero, G. Ciliberto, M. Capunzo, G. Franci, A. Barbieri, S. Bimonte and M. Montella: Role of Viral miRNAs and Epigenetic Modifications in Epstein-Barr Virus-Associated Gastric Carcinogenesis. Oxid Med Cell Longev, 2016, 6021934 (2016) DOI: 10.1155/2016/6021934

- 89. D. Iwakiri, L. Zhou, M. Samanta, M. Matsumoto, T. Ebihara, T. Seya, S. Imai, M. Fujieda, K. Kawa and K. Takada: Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-encoded small RNA is released from EBV-infected cells and activates signaling from Toll-like receptor 3. *J Exp Med*, 206(10), 2091-9 (2009) DOI: 10.1084/jem.20081761
- A. Nanbo, K. Inoue, K. Adachi-Takasawa and K. Takada: Epstein-Barr virus RNA confers resistance to interferon-alphainduced apoptosis in Burkitt's lymphoma. *EMBO J*, 21(5), 954-65 (2002) DOI: 10.1093/emboj/21.5.954
- N. Kitagawa, M. Goto, K. Kurozumi, S. Maruo, M. Fukayama, T. Naoe, M. Yasukawa, K. Hino, T. Suzuki, S. Todo and K. Takada: Epstein-Barr virus-encoded poly(A)(-) RNA supports Burkitt's lymphoma growth through interleukin-10 induction. *EMBO J*, 19(24), 6742-50 (2000) DOI: 10.1093/emboj/19.24.6742
- S. Alas, C. Emmanouilides and B. Bonavida: Inhibition of interleukin 10 by rituximab results in down-regulation of bcl-2 and sensitization of B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma to apoptosis. *Clin Cancer Res*, 7(3), 709-23 (2001)
- L. Zeng, C. O'Connor, J. Zhang, A. M. Kaplan and D. A. Cohen: IL-10 promotes resistance to apoptosis and metastatic potential in lung tumor cell lines. *Cytokine*, 49(3), 294-302 (2010) DOI: 10.1016/j.cyto.2009.11.015
- 94. B. Sredni, M. Weil, G. Khomenok, I. Lebenthal, S. Teitz, Y. Mardor, Z. Ram, A. Orenstein, A. Kershenovich, S. Michowiz, Y. I. Cohen, Z. H. Rappaport, I. Freidkin, M. Albeck, D. L. Longo and Y. Kalechman: Ammonium trichloro(dioxoethylene-o,o') tellurate (AS101) sensitizes tumors to chemotherapy by inhibiting the tumor interleukin 10 autocrine loop. *Cancer Res*, 64(5), 1843-52 (2004) DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-3179
- 95. A. Shinozaki, T. Sakatani, T. Ushiku, R. Hino, M. Isogai, S. Ishikawa, H. Uozaki, K. Takada and M. Fukayama: Downregulation of microRNA-200 in EBV-associated gastric carcinoma. *Cancer Res*, 70(11), 4719-27 (2010) DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-4620

© 1996-2017

- 96. T. Kimura, S. Jiang, N. Yoshida, R. Sakamoto and M. Nishizawa: Interferonalpha competing endogenous RNA network antagonizes microRNA-1270. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 72(14), 2749-61 (2015) DOI: 10.1007/s00018-015-1875-5
- M. Nishizawa and T. Kimura: RNA Networks that Regulate mRNA Expression and their Potential as Drug Targets. *RNA & DISEASE*, 3, e864 (2016) DOI: 10.14800/rd.864
- R. Sun, S. F. Lin, L. Gradoville and G. Miller: Polyadenylylated nuclear RNA encoded by Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 93(21), 11883-8 (1996) DOI: 10.1073/pnas.93.21.11883
- 99. W. Zhong and D. Ganem: Characterization of ribonucleoprotein complexes containing an abundant polyadenylated nuclear RNA encoded by Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (human herpesvirus 8). *J Virol*, 71(2), 1207-12 (1997)
- 100. S. Borah, N. Darricarrere, A. Darnell, J. Myoung and J. A. Steitz: A viral nuclear noncoding RNA binds re-localized poly(A) binding protein and is required for late KSHV gene expression. *PLoS Pathog*, 7(10), e1002300 (2011) DOI: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002300
- 101. C. C. Rossetto and G. S. Pari: Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus noncoding polyadenylated nuclear RNA interacts with virus- and host cell-encoded proteins and suppresses expression of genes involved in immune modulation. *J Virol*, 85(24), 13290-7 (2011)

DOI: 10.1128/JVI.05886-11

- 102. C. C. Rossetto, M. Tarrant-Elorza, S. Verma, P. Purushothaman and G. S. Pari: Regulation of viral and cellular gene expression by Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus polyadenylated nuclear RNA. *J Virol*, 87(10), 5540-53 (2013) DOI: 10.1128/JVI.03111-12
- 103.G. Franchini: Molecular mechanisms of human T-cell leukemia/lymphotropic virus type I infection. *Blood*, 86(10), 3619-39 (1995)
- 104. G. Gaudray, F. Gachon, J. Basbous, M. Biard-Piechaczyk, C. Devaux and J. M. Mesnard: The complementary strand of the

human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 RNA genome encodes a bZIP transcription factor that down-regulates viral transcription. *J Virol*, 76(24), 12813-22 (2002) DOI: 10.1128/JVI.76.24.12813-12822.2002

- 105. Y. Mitobe, J. Yasunaga, R. Furuta and M. Matsuoka: HTLV-1 bZIP Factor RNA and Protein Impart Distinct Functions on T-cell Proliferation and Survival. *Cancer Res*, 75(19), 4143-52 (2015) DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-0942
- 106. Y. Satou, J. Yasunaga, M. Yoshida and M. Matsuoka: HTLV-I basic leucine zipper factor gene mRNA supports proliferation of adult T cell leukemia cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103(3), 720-5 (2006) DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0507631103
- 107. M. J. Blaser, G. I. Perez-Perez, H. Kleanthous, T. L. Cover, R. M. Peek, P. H. Chyou, G. N. Stemmermann and A. Nomura: Infection with Helicobacter pylori strains possessing cagA is associated with an increased risk of developing adenocarcinoma of the stomach. *Cancer Res*, 55(10), 2111-5 (1995)
- 108. J. Parsonnet, G. D. Friedman, N. Orentreich and H. Vogelman: Risk for gastric cancer in people with CagA positive or CagA negative Helicobacter pylori infection. *Gut*, 40(3), 297-301 (1997) DOI: 10.1136/gut.40.3.297
- 109. J. Ferlay, I. Soerjomataram, R. Dikshit, S. Eser, C. Mathers, M. Rebelo, D. M. Parkin, D. Forman and F. Bray: Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. *Int J Cancer*, 136(5), E359-86 (2015) DOI: 10.1002/ijc.29210
- 110. M. Plummer, S. Franceschi, J. Vignat, D. Forman and C. de MarTel: Global burden of gastric cancer attributable to Helicobacter pylori. *Int J Cancer*, 136(2), 487-90 (2015) DOI: 10.1002/ijc.28999
- 111. M. Hatakeyama: Oncogenic mechanisms of the *Helicobacter pylori* CagA protein. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 4(9), 688-94 (2004) DOI: 10.1038/nrc1433
- 112. Z. Z. Chong and K. Maiese: The Src homology 2 domain tyrosine phosphatases SHP-1 and SHP-2: diversified control of cell growth, inflammation, and injury. *Histol Histopathol*, 22(11), 1251-67 (2007)

- 113. P. Saju, N. Murata-Kamiya, T. Hayashi, Y. Senda, L. Nagase, S. Noda, K. Matsusaka, S. Funata, A. Kunita, M. Urabe, Y. Seto, M. Fukayama, A. Kaneda and M. Hatakeyama: Host SHP1 phosphatase antagonizes *Helicobacter pylori* CagA and can be downregulated by Epstein–Barr virus. *Nature Microbiology*, 1 (2016) DOI: 10.1038/nmicrobiol.2016.26
- 114. S. Akiba, C. Koriyama, R. Herrera-Goepfert and Y. Eizuru: Epstein-Barr virus associated gastric carcinoma: epidemiological and clinicopathological features. *Cancer Sci*, 99(2), 195-201 (2008) DOI: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2007.00674.x
- 115. M. V. Lin, L. Y. King and R. T. Chung: Hepatitis C virus-associated cancer. *Annu Rev Pathol*, 10, 345-70 (2015) DOI:10.1146/annurev-pathol-012414-040323
- 116. Z. Wang, K. Ceniccola, L. Florea, B. D. Wang, N. H. Lee and A. Kumar: Viral noncoding RNA inhibits HNF4alpha expression in HCV associated hepatocellular carcinoma. *Infect Agent Cancer*, 10, 19 (2015) DOI: 10.1186/s13027-015-0014-0
- 117. S. Thuault, E. J. Tan, H. Peinado, A. Cano, C. H. Heldin and A. Moustakas: HMGA2 and Smads co-regulate SNAIL1 expression during induction of epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. *J Biol Chem*, 283(48), 33437-46 (2008) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M802016200
- 118. S. Lamouille, J. Xu and R. Derynck: Molecular mechanisms of epithelialmesenchymal transition. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 15(3), 178-96 (2014) DOI: 10.1038/nrm3758
- 119. W. Bao, L. Florea, N. Wu, Z. Wang, K. Banaudha, J. Qian, L. Houzet, R. Kumar and A. Kumar: Loss of nuclear PTEN in HCV-infected human hepatocytes. *Infect Agent Cancer*, 9, 23 (2014) DOI: 10.1186/1750-9378-9-23
- 120. W. H. Shen, A. S. Balajee, J. Wang, H. Wu, C. Eng, P. P. Pandolfi and Y. Yin: Essential role for nuclear PTEN in maintaining chromosomal integrity. *Cell*, 128(1), 157-70 (2007) DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.11.042
- 121. P. G. Smiraldo, A. M. Gruver, J. C. Osborn and D. L. Pittman: Extensive chromosomal

instability in *Rad51d*-deficient mouse cells. *Cancer Res*, 65(6), 2089-96 (2005) DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-2079

- 122. D. Kremsdorf, P. Soussan, P. Paterlini-Brechot and C. Brechot: Hepatitis B virusrelated hepatocellular carcinoma: paradigms for viral-related human carcinogenesis. *Oncogene*, 25(27), 3823-33 (2006) DOI: 10.1038/sj.onc.1209559
- 123. M. A. Feitelson and J. Lee: Hepatitis B virus integration, fragile sites, and hepatocarcinogenesis. *Cancer Lett*, 252(2), 157-70 (2007) DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2006.11.010
- 124. M. Levrero: Viral hepatitis and liver cancer: the case of hepatitis C. *Oncogene*, 25(27), 3834-47 (2006) DOI: 10.1038/sj.onc.1209562
- 125. A. Saha and E. S. Robertson: Epstein-Barr virus-associated B-cell lymphomas: pathogenesis and clinical outcomes. *Clin Cancer Res*, 17(10), 3056-63 (2011) DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-2578
- 126. Y. Chang, E. Cesarman, M. S. Pessin, F. Lee, J. Culpepper, D. M. Knowles and P. S. Moore: Identification of herpesviruslike DNA sequences in AIDS-associated Kaposi's sarcoma. *Science*, 266(5192), 1865-9 (1994) DOI: 10.1126/science.7997879
- 127. D. Martin and J. S. Gutkind: Human tumorassociated viruses and new insights into the molecular mechanisms of cancer. *Oncogene*, 27 Suppl 2, S31-42 (2008) DOI: 10.1038/onc.2009.351
- 128. M. A. Whiteside, E. M. Siegel and E. R. Unger: Human papillomavirus and molecular considerations for cancer risk. *Cancer*, 113(10 Suppl), 2981-94 (2008) DOI: 10.1002/cncr.23750
- 129. K. Takatsuki: Discovery of adult T-cell leukemia. *Retrovirology*, 2, 16 (2005) DOI: 10.1186/1742-4690-2-16
- N. Uemura, S. Okamoto, S. Yamamoto, N. Matsumura, S. Yamaguchi, M. Yamakido, K. Taniyama, N. Sasaki and R. J. Schlemper: Helicobacter pylori infection and the development of gastric cancer. *N Engl J Med*, 345(11), 784-9 (2001) DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa001999

Abbreviations: ncRNA: non-protein-coding RNA; IncRNA: long non-coding RNA; HTLV-1: Human T-lymphotropic virus 1; HCV: Hepatitis C virus; HBV: Hepatitis B virus; HHV4: Human herpesvirus 4: EBV: Epstein-Barr virus: HHV8: Human herpesvirus 8; KSHV: Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus; HPV: Human papillomavirus; RISC: RNA-induced silencing complex; AGO: argonaute; MRE: miRNA response element; CTL: cytotoxic T lymphocyte; PUMA: p53 upregulated modulator of apoptosis; Bim: Bcl-2 interacting mediator of cell death; TOMM22: translocase of outer mitochondrial membrane 22; PTEN: phosphatase and tensin homologue deleted on chromosome 10; EBNA: EBV nuclear antigen; RTA: replication and transcription activator; Bcl-XL: B-cell lymphoma XL: cIAP: cellular inhibitors of apoptosis protein: GADD45beta: growth arrest and DNA-damageinducible 45beta; BCL2A1: B-cell-lymphoma-2related protein A1; SOD2: superoxide dismutase 2; TNF-alpha: tumor necrosis factor-alpha; EBER: EBV-encoded small RNA; DICE1: deleted in cancer cells 1: INTS6: Integrator complex subunit 6; NPC: nasopharyngeal carcinoma; TAM: tumor-associated macrophage; VEGF: vascular endothelial growth factor; NDRG1: N-myc downstream regulated gene 1; EMT: epithelialmesenchymal transition; IRAK1: interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase 1: MYD88: mveloid differentiation primary response protein 88; TLR: Toll-like receptor; IKBKE: inhibitor of nuclear factor-kappaB kinase subunit epsilon; IKKepsilon: IkappaB kinase epsilon: IRF: interferon regulatory factor; BCLAF1: Bcl-2-associated transcription factor 1; KS: Kaposi sarcoma; TWEAK: tumor necrosis factor-like weak inducer of apoptosis; TWEAKR: TWEAK receptor; LDOC: leucine zipper downregulated in cancer 1; MCP: major capsid protein; DNMT: DNA methyl transferase; Rbl2: retinoblastoma-like protein 2; LIP: liver-enriched inhibitory protein: PEL: primary effusion lymphoma: THBS1: thrombospondin 1; GRK2: G proteincoupled receptor kinase 2; BL: Burkitt Lymphoma; SCID: severe combined immunodeficiency; IRG: interferon response gene; PKR: protein kinase R; dsRBD: double-stranded RNA-binding domain; EBNA: Epstein-Barr nuclear antigen; LMP: Latent Membrane Protein; IL-6: Interleukine-6; CXCR4: C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4; RANTES: Regulated on Activation, Normal T Cell Expressed and Secreted; MCP1: Monocyte Chemotactic Protein-1; ZEB: zinc finger E-box binding homeobox transcription factor; ceRNA; competing endogenous RNA; HBZ: HTLV-1 basic leucine zipper factor; bZIP: basic leucine zipper; E2F1: E2 promoter-binding factor 1; ATL: Adult T cell Leukemia; SHP2: Src homology 2-domain containing tyrosine phosphatase; HCC: hepatocellular carcinoma; HNF4alpha: hepatocyte

nuclear factor 4alpha; TGF-beta; transforming growth factor-beta; HMGA2: high mobility group AT-hook 2; CDH1: Cadherin 1; TNPO2: Transportin-2; RIG-I: retinoic acid-inducible gene-I; Bax: Bcl-2 associated X; IkappaBalpha: inhibitor of kappaBalpha

Key Words: Regulatory non-coding RNA, Oncogenesis, microRNA, Small ncRNA, Long ncRNA, Cancer hallmarks, Review

Send correspondence to: Tominori Kimura, Laboratory of Microbiology and Cell Biology, Department of Pharmacy, College of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Ritsumeikan University, 1-1-1 Noji-Higashi, Kusatsu, Shiga 525-8577, Japan, Tel: 81-77-561-2826, Fax: 81-77-561-2564, E-mail: kimurato@ph.ritsumei.ac.jp